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      Introduction

      
         
         
      

      
      
         “My friend, why are you angry with your attacker? Don’t you understand the order of
            the universe? We live in the best possible world. Not only was it necessary for you
            to be beaten with that stick, but it was better to be beaten than not to be beaten.”
         

         
          “What!” said the man who had suffered the blows, “It is in the order of things?”

         
          “Without a doubt. In fact, if you understood the great principle of the sufficient
            cause, you would comprehend that what you regard as an evil is actually good!”
         

         
          “You are an old fool,” replied the first man.[1]

      

      
      This is not an excerpt from Voltaire’s Candide, but from the Marquis d’Argens’ Songes Philosophiques (Philosophical Dreams), written fifteen years earlier in 1746. Consider this extract:
      

      
      
         Man, who is born for Liberty, at length breaks those Chains which keep him in a Slavery
            that deprives him of the Use of Life and of Civil Society.[2]

      

      
       Is this from Rousseau’s Social Contract of 1762? No, it is from d’Argens’ Lettres Juives, published in 1736. It is curious that an author who was in so many ways the vanguard
         of his time is widely disparaged as derivative, a popularizer of other people’s ideas,
         or even a “semi-journalist.”[3] It is odder still that d’Argens is best known for a book that he did not write, Thérèse Philosophe. His actual writings are little read and seldom discussed. They deserve better.
      

      
       Voltaire wrote many accolades, all of them completely disinterested and unprompted,
         of d’Argens’s work. Of Lettres Juives, he wrote, “How I like them! I am charmed! They are enjoyable and instructive. They
         breathe humanity and liberty,” and he even asked to contribute to future editions
         of the book.[4]     After reading its successor, Lettres Chinoises, Voltaire wrote to d’Argens in laudatory fashion, hailing him as a “worthy foe of fanaticism
         and imposture.”[5]     Voltaire had even higher praise for La Philosophie du Bon-Sens, telling d’Argens, “You have the mind of Bayle and the style of Montaigne.”[6]     Voltaire admired d’Argens’ translation of the Emperor Julian’s Discourse Against
         the Christians so much that he virtually became a collaborator on it, adding more
         copious notes of his own.[7]     He wrote to d’Argens, “I wage war in verse, just as you do with the weapons of
         reason. . . . Farewell, learned assertor of truth, destroyer of superstition; flourish
         and continue to write.”[8]     Voltaire once called d’Argens his “brother” and it was Voltaire who in 1771 wrote
         the lines on d’Argens’ tomb in Aix-en-Provence:
      

      
       

      
      ERRORIS INIMICVS

      
      VERITATIS AMATOR

      
       

      
      [The Enemy of Error, the Lover of Truth.]
      

      
       

      
      This splendidly terse epitaph was a noble tribute offered by Voltaire quite spontaneously.
         He could hardly have written any higher praise. He regarded d’Argens as his fellow-spirit,
         battling for intellectual liberty and honesty against superstition and despotism.
      

      
       Voltaire also paid d’Argens an indirect compliment by borrowing a little here and
         there from his friend’s works. In his Dictionnaire Philosophique, Voltaire took some passages about Moses and the Pentateuch from d’Argens’ Timée de Locres, added a few remarks of his own, and appended d’Argens’ name to it without asking permission.
         There can be little doubt that Songes Philosophiques provided many of the ideas for Candide. The idea of reducing Leibnitz’s optimistic philosophy to a joke by juxtaposing it
         with grim experiences was provided by d’Argens’ fifth Dream. Even the basic structure
         of a traveller roaming the world and encountering barbarous or irrational customs,
         was suggested by the second Dream in Songes Philosophiques. Voltaire developed the idea much further with Candide as his protagonist, and emulated
         the ironic way that d’Argens described flogging, the Inquisition and the harshness
         of the Prussian army.[9]

      
       When d’Argens died, d’Alembert wrote a generous tribute to him, recognizing him as
         a serious thinker and not just a writer of amusing novels. “It would not surprise
         me if somebody circulated a forged work attributed to the Marquis d’Argens who is
         now in the Elysian Fields. I truly regret his death; he was a good man and a true
         philosopher, possessing plenty of knowledge and knowing how to make use of it. His
         style sometimes ran on a bit, which was the result of his laziness, as he could not
         be bothered to revise what he wrote. . . . Whoever takes the trouble to sort through
         his works will find excellent things in them. It is possible to be garrulous and still
         be an honourable man, and that he certainly was, above all. He had enough virtues
         to cover a few little blemishes.”[10]

      
       Louis de Jaucourt, another contributor to the Encyclopédie, wrote with appreciation of d’Argens’ La Philosophie du Bon-Sens, saying that those who wished for a readable, lucid account of the fundamentals of
         ontological philosophy could not do better than to read it.[11]

      
       Francesco Algarotti, who knew d’Argens well, classed him along with the greatest
         intellectuals of their time. “Frederick the Great peopled his palace with philosophers,
         and wished to have around him such minds as Maupertuis, Euler, Voltaire and d’Argens.”[12]     He wrote this despite the fact that he and d’Argens had not always been on the
         best of terms. They had disagreed about everything from Descartes to art history,
         yet Algarotti recognized d’Argens as a foe of the first order. These tributes from
         the leading minds of the Enlightenment should make us think of d’Argens with respect.
         They acknowledged his contribution and so should we.
      

      
       The American President Thomas Jefferson had several of d’Argens’ works in his library
         and in 1815 he recommended his successor John Adams to read them. Adams did so and
         wrote back to him with excitement, “I have at last procured the Marquis d’Argens’
         Occellus, Timaeus and Julian. Three such volumes I never read. . . . It is astonishing
         they have not made more noise in the world.”[13]

      
       What is needed is a methodical study of d’Argens and his writings to establish a
         context in which particular works can take their place, and that is what the present
         work sets out to provide. The volume edited by Jean-Louis Vissière, containing the
         papers given at a conference in 1988, does not do this. It arrives at no coherent
         picture of d’Argens. In the introduction, Vissière admits that the attribution of
         Thérèse to d’Argens is doubtful, but makes no attempt to resolve the uncertainty.[14]     Some of the contributors, such as Antony McKenna, assume he wrote it, and some
         do not, but include other spurious books. Françoise Weill assumes that d’Argens wrote
         Avantures de Rosaline, which is certainly not genuine, and Le Mentor Cavalier, which is only partly his work.[15]     To disagree about an author is discussion; to disagree about what you are discussing
         is chaos. The dangers of this kind of limited, piecemeal study are revealed in the
         essay by José-Michel Moureaux, “D’Argens, Éditeur de l’Empereur Julien.” He suggested
         that d’Argens’ Greek was very inadequate to the task of translating the works of the
         Emperor Julian and that he only learned Greek while translating the text. He bases
         this on a passage in a letter from d’Argens to King Frederick of Prussia in May 1762,
         J’ai quitté V.M balbutiant le grec et je la verrai le sachant comme les Dacier et
            les Saumaises. C’est au chagrins que j’ai essuyées depuis dix-huit mois que je suis
            redevable de la connaissance d’une langue qui sert a mon amusement.  (When I left your Majesty I was stammering in Greek and I will be as proficient
         as the Daciers and the Saumaises, i.e., the greatest scholars of the age.)[16] The truth is that d’Argens had learned Greek as a boy and had read widely in that
         language. He had already translated the works of other Greek authors, Timaeus of Locris
         and Ocellus Lucanus, and received good press for his translations, before he attempted
         Julian. He had taught his wife Greek at least a decade earlier and there are innumerable
         references to his fluent Greek long before this, for example when he conversed with
         the Duc de Nivernois in January 1756.[17]     So while d’Argens was saying modestly that the eighteen months he had spent translating
         Greek every day had improved his understanding of it, we cannot take “stammering”
         too literally. Such misinterpretations would not arise if there were a general and
         comprehensive work giving an overview of d’Argens the man and his output. McKenna’s
         article “Le Marquis d’Argens et les Manuscrits Clandestins” does not present convincing
         evidence that d’Argens ever read, let alone wrote, any clandestine texts. He says
         that d’Argens consulted one unpublished work, a manuscript that was published about
         ten years later, but there is a lot of difference between being unpublished and being
         clandestine.[18]

      
       In his Histoire de l’Esprit Humain, d’Argens wrote dismissively of Thérèse Philosophe and made it clear that he was not the author, and did not find the ascription flattering.[19]     In a later volume of the same work, d’Argens provided a list of his genuine books,
         and another of some of the books wrongly credited to him. He does not mention L’Homme Machine, because there were far too many spurious attributions to include them all, and he
         does not mention Thérèse as he had discussed it previously. He said that he had written only seven novels in
         his life, and had never written a novel since his youth.[20]     Of course establishing d’Argens’ canon is not quite as simple as that. There
         are one or two books he forgot to include, such as his early Mémoires and his controversial Réflexions Critiques Sur les Différentes Écoles de Peinture (1751), which he publicly acknowledged elsewhere. His list is defective, referring
         to seven novels and then listing only six, because Le Faux Rabin and Mémoires   de   Vaxère are the same book. The missing novel is Le Comte de Mommejan, which can be safely authenticated, and not only because it was attributed to him
         on the title page of the first edition: “par M. le Marquis d’Argens.” In a letter
         of November 1736, d’Argens mentions he was writing Le Comte de Mommejan, and it has a dedication to his close friend, “M. de Clairac, Chevalier de St Lazare.”
         Another letter establishes that he wrote Mémoires de la Comtesse de Mirol, a book that appears to be a translation.[21]     Only with such very forceful evidence am I willing to deviate from d’Argens’
         own catalogue of his works.
      

      
       In establishing d’Argens’ canon, I have considered many factors such as:

      
      	
            
            whether the book in question is mentioned by him in his correspondence

         

         
         	
            whether it is mentioned by others in that correspondence

         

         
         	
            whether it is attributed to him in the first or any very early edition, in his own
               lifetime
            

         

         
         	
            whether it was brought out by a publisher with any known association with d’Argens

         

         
         	
            whether people who knew him personally supported the attribution

         

         
         	
            whether there is any other indirect or circumstantial evidence connecting him with
               the text
            

         

         
         	
            whether he denied or acknowledged it in any other work, whose authenticity must naturally
               be verified in precisely the same way
            

         

         
         	
            and whether the book in question is better attributed to somebody else

         

      
I have of course followed Fredson Bowers’ rule that external evidence takes logical
         precedence over internal evidence. Having established the canon on logical grounds,
         we can then proceed to consider all of d’Argens’ seven novels together, and find they
         have certain characteristics. They are vigorously written, full of surprising turns
         of plot and broken up with letters or shorter personal histories. They take a broad-minded
         view of sexual behavior, exploiting its potential for comedy, but they are not sexually
         explicit. All of them are stuffed with autobiographical material. For example, in
         Mémoires de Pietro della Vallé, the hero’s disagreement with his father over a choice of profession obviously resembles
         d’Argens’ own clash with his father. The journey he makes by coach from Marseilles
         to Barcelona via Provence and Languedoc resembles the journey d’Argens made when eloping
         in 1722. One could go through all his novels finding such resemblances. Compared to
         this group of seven works, Thérèse appears obviously incongruous, a camel in a line-up of greyhounds.
      

      
       When his canon is clarified, it emerges that d’Argens was never so cowardly as to
         publish any book anonymously. That fact alone is a major consideration in distancing
         him from any supposed tradition of clandestine writing.
      

      
        D’Argens has been variously labelled a deist, an atheist, a pyrrhonist, a philo-Protestant,
         an aristarque, a sceptic, a Spinozist, a materialist, and a libertine. The term Spinozist
         is used by Brown and Tackett but d’Argens had much to say for and against Spinoza.
         The term “libertine,” often attached to d’Argens because of the confusion surrounding
         Thérèse, is a label that can be applied to any sexually explicit text, or any text which
         is even tinged with religious doubt or skepticism. That is imprecise and unhelpful.
         Even if narrowed down to texts that are sexually explicit (assuming that can be defined
         beyond dispute), one cannot make sweeping statements about all of them. Sometimes
         we find the term “enlightenment sexuality” which is roughly equivalent to “libertine.”
         Jen Häseler is one of many critics to classify d’Argens in a stereotypical way as
         merely one of a circle of libertine writers surrounding Frederick II. It is better
         to consider these writers individually as they had significant disagreements. Häseler
         says that d’Argens objected to La Mettrie’s provocative manner of writing, but the truth is that d’Argens objected to what La Mettrie wrote. He
         also had a low opinion of de Prades and Toussaint.[22]

      
       A hundred years before John Stuart Mill, d’Argens actually wrote that libertinism
         is not liberty, and in a country of no laws, everybody fears subjection or massacre.[23]     In Lettres Juives, a dialectical work, views like the following predominate: “The second class of atheists
         is the most numerous. It is composed of that heap of libertines and free-thinkers
         who decide their beliefs on the basis of debauchery instead of study and meditation
         . . . but whenever they regard the world around them it gives a revelation of the
         Almighty.”[24]     In La Philosophie du Bon-Sens d’Argens writes that atheism is a perverse view which libertines and debauchés base
         on weak argument; and he complains that Epicurus is often slandered by those who distort
         his philosophy to accuse him of advocating “libertinage.” The true Epicurean is soft-hearted, compassionate, and enters into the suffering
         of others. In the following section, d’Argens argues at length that moderation renders
         true pleasures more pure, and this is what a genuine philosopher regards as the route
         to happiness.[25]

      
       In Lettres Chinoises, d’Argens’ sage Sioeu-Tcheou suggests that one of the motives of the Crusades was
         “libertinage,” i.e., the desire to plunder, ransack, and despoil the lands of the Mahometans.
         Libertinage here is a synonym of crime, massacre, destruction, and sociopathic tendencies, all
         of which are reprehensible. His friend Tiao argues that the influence of “libertins” had a deplorable effect on the behavior and character of Henri III and Louis XIII.[26]     In Lettres  Morales et Critiques, d’Argens makes a clear distinction between “libertins” and true “Philosophes.” To
         the libertines, philosophy is merely an affectation to impress people or to cover
         their moral weaknesses.[27]     In Réflexions Historiques et Critiques sur le Goût, while discussing the bawdy tales of La Fontaine, d’Argens concedes that they are
         fun but asserts that libertinage is the enemy of love, whose transports far exceed the pleasure of casual encounters
         in a brothel or inn. “Only love offers true pleasure. . . . It is essential to feel
         a strong and real passion for the beloved.”[28]

      
         The words “libertin” or “débauche” cannot be found used anywhere in d’Argens’ works
         in an approving sense. So to label d’Argens a libertine is misleading. He is not anomic.
         He does not attack all morality just for the sake of it; what he does is deny that
         morality is synonymous with religion, still less with any particular religion. He
         speculates that in some respects contemporary moral standards needed to be modified
         for the public benefit. In his philosophical writings he seeks a basis for an entirely
         humanistic morality, something very different from denying the need for morality or
         justifying inhumane behavior. His fostering of philosophers such as Moses Mendelssohn
         proves that he had no materialistic agenda, but rather sought to create a freedom
         of debate in which neither the upholders of metaphysical beliefs nor their opponents
         could dictate or censor.
      

      
       In their Encyclopédie, Diderot and d’Alembert defined “Libertins” as a heretical sect in Hollande and Flanders
         around the time of the Reformation, whose followers denied the difference between
         good and evil and taught that wisdom was to suppress remorse of conscience. The entry
         categorizes this as “Horrible blasphemy.” They deny paternity and decline to adopt
         the juvenile delinquent.[29]

      
       In his Dictionnaire Philosophique, Voltaire defines “libertinage” as the habit of giving in to the urge to seek sensual
         pleasure. While it is less extreme than “Licence” (defined as a contempt for law and
         morals), he warns that a mind addicted to “libertinage” will necessarily lose all
         sense of the beautiful, the noble, and the honorable.[30]

      
       In an essay on happiness, d’Argens wrote, “It is certain that a man who abandons
         himself to crime can never be happy, whatever wealth he enjoys, whatever honors he
         receives and whatever high position he occupies. The wicked are their own judges;
         the horror of their misdeeds pursues them everywhere, and even when their crimes are
         unknown and they are believed to be virtuous, they cannot be truly happy. The guilty
         can never wholly or permanently stifle remorse within themselves.”[31]     So any comparison to the Marquis de Sade is out of the question.
      

      
         From the biographical point of view, if d’Argens was a libertine, he was one of
         the most pardonable kind. His Mémoires admit frankly that he did not pass his youth in celibacy, but the same can be said
         of the Confessions of St. Augustine. He was a warm, passionate man and a lover of
         women. When he behaved badly, there was always an uxorious man inside him trying to
         get out, and by his middle age he managed to do so. I would certainly not put him
         in the same category as Casanova, who writes about women in a grossly insensitive
         and exploitative fashion. They have two very different temperaments, and two very
         different orders of sensibility.
      

      
       D’Argens’ books were translated into English, Italian, German, and Dutch in his own
         lifetime and were read by David Hume, Diderot, d’Alembert, Madame de Graffigny, Madame
         du Deffand, the Abbé Prévost, Jean-Jacques Rousseau, Mirabeau the elder (President
         of the French National Assembly), Horace Walpole, Lord Chesterfield, Lady Mary Wortley
         Montague, Sir Everard Faulkener, Oliver Goldsmith (who borrowed from him extensively),
         Tobias Smollett, James Boswell, Edward Gibbon, Goethe, Friedrich Nicolai, Gotthold
         Lessing, Moses Mendelssohn, Christian Gellert, Isaac Disraeli, Matthew Lewis, Southey,
         and Byron.[32]     It can be difficult to say exactly how far d’Argens’ influence spread because
         his name was not always so widely diffused as his works. In 1789, forty-eight letters
         from his Lettres Juives and Lettres Cabalistiques were translated into Russian by the young Ican Krylov and published in a periodical,
         The Spirit Post, without acknowledgement.[33]

      
       Larkin, who edited some of d’Argens’ correspondence, says that he popularized the
         ideas of earlier writers rather than making any serious contribution himself. That
         is unjust. D’Argens does not merely diffuse or circulate other people’s ideas. He
         considers, compares, sifts, scrutinizes, criticizes, and sometimes mocks them, summarizing
         their strengths, pin-pointing their weaknesses, envisaging the result of acting on
         them, looking at them from many angles, making suggestions and contributing to the
         important process of assimilating new ideas into the culture in a meaningful way.
         His books convey a very strong personality with a distinctive world-view.
      

      
       Look for example at the way he discusses Leibnitz. Having satirized him in Songes Philosophiques, he returns to the subject in Histoire de L’Esprit Humain, where he gives in a few pages a survey of the remarkably diverse achievements of this
         “vast and almost universal genius.” He explains succinctly the working of the binary
         system of mathematics, which Leibnitz tried out, and what its drawbacks are. This
         is the system on which all modern computers are founded. He remarks, of Leibnitz’s
         notion of universal right, “What presumption for a twenty-two-year-old to try to legislate
         for every country in the world!” which is very pertinent. He goes on to say that Leibnitz’s
         ideas were “sometimes chimerical and impractical, sometimes useful, feasible and pleasing”
         and explains why they cannot all be regarded as equally convincing. There is nothing
         here either adulatory or derogatory. The understanding of mathematics and natural
         science, including the history of both, which d’Argens reveals in his discussion,
         is solid. It is an idiosyncratic account and for that reason more interesting and
         valuable than a dry text-book.[34]     I was recommended to read Histoire de l’Esprit Humain by an academic who described it as a book of pleasant “gossip.” I found a history
         of Western philosophy, written from the point of view of a sceptical, erudite, and
         open-minded person who situates himself—and us, as we read it—at what I would call
         the nerve-center of the Enlightenment. He is looking back on the entire Christian
         civilization, comparing it to alternative world-views from the Jewish, Roman, and
         Hellenic cultures, some of which he regards as superior, and speculating on the impact
         that new discoveries in science and world exploration will make.
      

      
       D’Argens is regarded by historians of Berlin and its Jewry as a significant figure
         who helped to integrate the Jews into the intellectual and social life of the capital.
         In recent times his reputation has been raised by Jonathan Israel, whose Enlightenment Contested, rightly mentions him as a “remarkable” man and no intellectual lightweight. Regrettably,
         even this work is marred by the attribution of Thérèse to d’Argens and the subtle metamorphosis of the title of Songes Philosophiques into Singes Philosophiques.[35]

      
        D’Argens was not just (as one critic patronizingly wrote of him) a man of his time.
         He was a man of the remote past, who publicly baptized himself at the fount of pre-Christian
         and pre-classical philosophers. He was also a man of the future, whose ideas anticipate
         the Romantic Movement and the abolition of the feudal system. He ended his days happily
         living in a cottage on the estate which he could have inherited if he had conformed
         to the rules of his birth and rank. He had leapt into the future. While others talked
         of revolution, he practiced it. It is time to reassess d’Argens as a writer and to
         initiate that the first thing we need is a clear view of the man, his life, and the
         books that constitute his considerable and substantial canon.
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      Chapter 1

      Youth 1703–1723

      
         
         
      

      
      The title Marquis d’Argens probably gives many people the notion that d’Argens belonged
         to a class of idle drones, frittering away their fortunes on ostentation and decadent
         amusement. That is a highly misleading stereotype. D’Argens’ father, Pierre-Jean de
         Boyer, Seigneur d’Éguilles, came from the noblesse de robe, the hereditary administrators of France, and although privileged he was neither idle
         nor decadent; he was a lawyer, a hard-working Attorney-General in the Parlement of
         Provence. His wife, Angélique Lenfant (or l’Enfant), was the daughter of another councillor
         in the same Parlement.

      
         Their eldest son was not quite sure when he was born. The register of the Church
         of the Madeleine at Aix records that Jean-Baptiste, offspring of the parents named
         above, was born and baptized on the same day, June 27, 1703.[1]     Yet he himself seemed to think that he was born on June 24, 1704. His statement
         about it is rather confusing as he wrote, “Je suis né le 24 juin, l’an quatre de ce siècle,” (I was born in the year four of this century), nevertheless in the same letter
         he states that he is aged fifty-nine in November 1762.[2]     Had he adopted the Chinese method of counting a child as a year old when newly
         born? If he had written “le quatrième an” it might be possible to interpret this as 1703, although strictly 1700 is the final
         year of the seventeenth century. But he wrote plainly “l’an quatre” which would mean that he was only fifty-eight and a half at the time of writing,
         i.e. in his fifty-ninth year. There is an engraved portrait of d’Argens in the 1739
         edition of Lettres Juives, which must have been printed with his approval, and its inscription states that he
         was born on June 24, 1704.[3]     Could it be that the child born in 1703 died and the same name was given to a
         baby the next year? If so, one would expect to find a second entry in the register.
      

      
      June 24 is the feast of Saint John the Baptist, which would have been marked as the
         child’s saint’s-day (far more important than his birthday) so that could account for
         some degree of uncertainty. This name also ran in the family. It was the name of the
         writer’s grandfather, and several other forebears, and two of his younger brothers
         were given Jean-Baptiste as second or third names. For those who believe in astrology—which
         d’Argens did not—the date so close to the summer solstice, in such a temperate zone,
         could explain his warm temperament, always zealous in admiration, eager in action,
         passionate in feeling and animated in company to the point of attracting attention.[4]

      
       Pierre-Jean, who came from a cadet branch of the family, inherited the domains of
         d’Éguilles (sometimes spelled Aiguilles or even Esguille) and Joyeuse-Garde from his
         ancestor Antoine de Boyer, and that of d’Argens from an estate brought to the family
         by his mother. The senior branch of de Boyer family held the domains of Tarradeau,
         Saint-Julien, Château-Arnoux and Bandol, most of which had been in the family since
         the fifteenth century. Éguilles is a pleasant village in the thriving wine-producing
         countryside near to Aix, with a small old-fashioned château, not convenient for the
         family’s work in the parliament. In 1675 Pierre-Jean’s father had a fine three-story
         house built in Aix, the Hôtel de Boyer d’Éguilles at number 6, la Grande-Rue-Saint-Esprit,
         which is now called rue Espariat. Designed by Pierre Puget, one of the leading French baroque artists, it is one of
         the most imposing mansions in a town whose architecture is worthy of its status as
         capital of a province, and former capital of a kingdom. In Palladian style, the Hôtel
         has two wings and, unusually for Aix, is built around a courtyard, screened from the
         street by high wrought-iron gates. It is a very short walk from the site of the parliament
         building, and from its upper windows there is a fine view of the cathedral of Aix,
         with its octagonal Gothic tower. In this town-house Pierre-Jean’s five sons and two
         daughters were born and brought up.
      

      
       Pierre-Jean’s father, grandfather, and great-grandfather had all been councillors
         in the Parlement of Provence, holding various responsible legal and fiscal positions.
         Jean-Baptiste’s mother was the only daughter and heir of Luc Lenfant, a President
         of the same Parlement, and she brought the Boyer d’Éguilles family a considerable
         addition to its wealth.
      

      
       The Parlement could not make, change or even influence the laws of France; its role
         was more judiciary than legislative. It acted as a court and administered laws that
         were immemorial or laid down by the King. This system provided the young Jean-Baptiste
         with the prospect of a safe and lucrative occupation, as well as a respected position
         in the world.[5]     He need never have known poverty, hardship, or the life of a fugitive wanted
         by the government. However, he had a wayward disposition, inclined to rebel.
      

      
       The Boyer d’Éguilles family had not only produced lawyers and clergymen. Jean-Baptiste
         was proud of his descent from Guilhem Boyer, a troubadour poet who gained favor at
         the court of Provence in the fifteenth century.[6]     One of Jean-Baptiste’s great-uncles, the Abbé Claude de Boyer (1618–1698) had
         been a poet and dramatist. He had written tragedies, tragi-comedies, pastorals, a
         considerable quantity of religious verse, and the libretti for several operas. He was admitted to the Académie Française in 1666, and in 1692,
         one of his plays was performed by the young ladies of Saint-Cyr.[7]     Jean-Baptiste’s grandfather, and namesake, Jean-Baptiste de Boyer, Seigneur d’Éguilles
         (1640–1709) was an enthusiastic amateur and connoisseur of art. Despite being a councillor
         and Procureur-Général in the Parlement of Aix, he found time to study painting, drawing,
         and engraving with Puget, before commissioning him to design the Boyer d’Éguilles
         mansion. His own paintings included an “Adoration of the Magi.”[8]     He traveled to Italy to admire the art there and collected paintings, drawings,
         bronzes, and statues from Italy, Holland, and France, which he brought home to Aix.
         Among them were works by Michelangelo, Titian, Caravaggio, Tintoretto, Carracci, Correggio,
         Raphaël, Andrea del Sarto, Veronese, Guido Reni, Nicolas Poussin, Sébastien Bourdon,
         Eustache Lesueur, Pierre Puget, Rubens, Van Dyck; and there was a celebrated painting
         of the Holy Family by the Genoese artist Valerio Castello. The collection was one
         of the finest in private hands anywhere in France, and was so renowned that in 1709
         a collection of engravings of its paintings was published, the first volume devoted
         to religious paintings, and the second to other subjects. In 1741 a two-volume collection
         of prints copied from the collection by the engraver Pierre-Jean Marriette was printed
         at Paris.[9]

      
       Thanks to Jean-Baptiste the elder, the Hôtel de Boyer d’Éguilles possessed some fine
         painted ceilings, attributed to Sébastien Barras. One room is known as the Chambre
         des Amours, as its ceiling depicts three naked Cupids frolicking in a flower-basket.
         The young Jean-Baptiste was allowed to enter his grandfather’s cabinet and view this
         collection, which impressed him deeply. This surely was a formative influence on him.
         When he published his La Philosophie du Bon-Sens in 1737 it included an engraving done by himself, of a similar airborn cherub. He
         was closer to his grandfather in taste and temperament than he could ever be to his
         father.[10]

      
       There were other members of the Boyer family who had been connoisseurs. In 1649,
         an earlier Monsieur de Boyer, councillor in the Parlement of Aix, was already listed
         as possessing a famous collection of books, manuscripts, and medallions at his house
         in Dijon. It was regarded by Pierre Borel as one of the best in that part of France.
         This may have been Jean-Baptiste’s great-grandfather, Vincent de Boyer, the previous
         Seigneur d’Éguilles.[11]

      
       On his mother’s side, too, there were people of taste. Her family home near Aix possessed
         a ceiling painted by J-B. Vanloo, one of the leading French artists of his day.[12]     It was not wasted on the young Jean-Baptiste, who retained a very strong lifelong
         impression of it. All in all, d’Argens was the product of an exceptionally art-rich
         environment. The leading families of the Aixois commissioned and collected art works
         of a very high standard. Vanloo was one of a clan of painters with roots in Provence,
         in whose work d’Argens would always take a close interest. Others included Claude
         Arnulphy and Joseph Cellony, many of whose works are preserved in the Musée Granet
         at Aix-en-Provence.[13]

      
       Pierre-Jean did not envisage his eldest son becoming a painter or a writer. The young
         Jean-Baptiste’s upbringing was designed to ensure that he would be a good Catholic
         and a good lawyer. Whatever else d’Argens could ever complain of, he could never reproach
         his father for the extent of his education. In one of his novels, the hero recalls, “the education I received at my father’s house, where the best
         tutors to be found in the province came to us every day.”[14]     Without a doubt this describes what happened in the Boyer d’Argens family. The
         boys were thoroughly grounded in Latin and Greek, both the language and the literature.
         Jean-Baptiste never lost his love for the poetry of Horace, despite being taught enough
         about the rules of poetry and scansion to put most people off. He was amused by bad
         translations of the Iliad.[15]     He also learned mathematics, history, religion, and logic. The possible conflict
         between the last two subjects would greatly occupy his mind in later years. The boys
         were left to pick up French casually and d’Argens’ letters in his native tongue are
         noticeably deficient in capital letters and punctuation. He knew the Bible thoroughly,
         and when he wanted to transmit some scurrilous gossip about Prémontval, he did so
         by alluding to the story of Abraham and Abimelech. He studied the writings of the
         Christian fathers and could quote from Saints Augustine, Ambrose, and Eusebius. When
         he wrote Lettres Juives, he could effortlessly list all the theologians who had said that it was possible
         for the heathen to be saved. When a printer garbled a line in his book on French and
         Italian art, referring to a painting as “The Transfiguration of St John” he asked
         acerbically if they were unaware that St John had never been transfigured.[16]

      
       The library in the Boyer d’Éguilles household was extensive, and was dominated by
         religious books, whose nature reveals that the family was firmly in the camp of the
         Jesuits. Without a doubt it was Jesuits, in the main, who tutored the sons. The library
         contained a lesser proportion of history, belles-lettres and science, and ninety-four
         books on legal matters.[17]     The young Jean-Baptiste also absorbed a great deal of trivial superstition from
         his surroundings. In later life, he looked dismayed if he upset a salt-cellar at table,
         and took care to throw a little over his shoulder. He hated to sit down at the table
         where there were thirteen guests, and if he saw a knife and fork crossed, he would
         place them parallel, apologizing even as he did so, “I know that it makes no difference,
         but they are just as well like this.” If he had written all day, and then you reminded
         him that this was the first Friday of the month, he would immediately throw everything
         he had written into the fire, as it was bound to be no good and would bring bad luck.
         Whether it was from his parents or from a nursemaid that he learned this kind of lore,
         it was imbibed and it stuck despite all rational endeavor to remove it.[18]

      
         Jean-Baptiste’s upbringing seems to have been somewhat repressive. His mother and
         his father repeatedly counselled that not all truths are proper to be spoken. He was
         slow to learn this precept.[19]

      
         D’Argens did not like the idea of following in his father’s footsteps. Nothing
         could have been less to the young man’s taste than to become a provincial judge. “I
         thought it was a frightful idea,” he wrote. “To spend my life poring over other people’s
         law-suits and judging them! It seemed like the worst possible future existence.”[20]

      
       An oration given by his father in the Parliament in 1718 gives us some idea of his
         duties. Being a legal expert, Pierre-Jean was called on to advise the King about the
         claims of the Ultramontane party, which held that the Pope should have authority over
         temporal monarchs even in matters of a secular nature. The discourse is very learned
         and so lengthy that it was serialized in three successive editions of a newspaper.
         Liberally sprinkled with Latin, it defends Gallican liberties, citing Papal concordats,
         episcopal privileges, the views of mediaeval Cardinals, and the decisions of the ecclesiastical
         councils of Nicea, Antioch, and Lyons. Was the Pope infallible? How far could he discipline
         bishops or kings who defied him? To answer that question we must consult what Honorius
         had said about it, and Pope Adrian VI, besides the articles that were passed in the
         reign of Henri II, etc.[21]

      
       The Gallicans asserted the absolute power of the King. The Ultramontanes asserted
         the absolute power of the Pope. It was a sterile dispute between two equally absurd
         viewpoints. Pierre-Jean’s son thought that he could not endure such an existence.
         It would stifle him. Probably there was also an element of personal dislike in this
         revulsion. It is clear from everything we know that Jean-Baptiste hated his father
         and the urge to rebel against him was a decisive factor in his life. What did Pierre-Jean
         do to arouse such an intense hatred? It is clear that d’Argens did not have a happy
         childhood—not at any rate after his grandfather’s death, when he was about six years
         old. His father was overbearing, dictatorial, and stern, a very controlling parent.
         Jean-Baptiste bore the weight of being the eldest, the one who was expected to continue
         the family line and its traditions, and set a good example to the others. “I was not
         my father’s favorite child,” he wrote in his Mémoires, and he makes it quite clear that the strongest feeling his father inspired was one
         of fear. Between Jean-Baptiste and his mother there seems to have been more affection,
         but she had no power to countermand his father’s wishes, and the most she could do
         was to palliate somewhat the harshness of the Attorney-General’s way of running his
         household.
      

      
       At the age of sixteen, the young Jean-Baptiste suddenly demanded to go into the army.
         However little he wanted to follow in his father’s profession, this was a strange
         and rash choice, quite extraordinary under the circumstances. What would tempt a youth
         born into a safe and lucrative profession to abandon it in favor of one that was dangerous
         and often pursued at a financial loss? It was perverse.
      

      
       An ubiquitous motif in d’Argens’ novels is that of the innocent young man who is
         seduced by an older, more experienced and wordly-wise woman. It is found in his first
         novel Le Comte de Vaxère, in which the hero, a novice priest, is initiated by the amorous Comtesse de Dorset,
         a widow. It appears again in Le Marquis de Vaudreville, where the hero is seduced by Mme de P*; and again in the story of the young Comte
         de Poncil and the Presidente de Bénevent in Le Solitaire Philosophe; and again in Le Comte de Mommejan, in the story of the hero’s father and how he fell into the toils of the sophisticated
         Mlle de St-Chon. Even in Mademoiselle de Mainville, the young and innocent Chevalier de Vergy finds himself the object of some rather
         forcible advances from a lady who sees him at the opera and explains to him that as
         she is a widow, she can do as she pleases.[22]

      
       There are so many other autobiographical elements in d’Argens’ novels that it is
         tempting to speculate that this also draws on his personal experience. D’Argens greatly
         admired a novel by his contemporary, Crébillon the younger, Les Égaremens du Coeur et de l’Esprit, ou Mémoires de Mr. de Meilcour, which relates the seduction of the young hero by an experienced older woman, the
         Marquise de Lursay, close friend of his mother. D’Argens said of this novel, “Il faut
         être amoureux, ou avoir l’été, pour dépeindre aussi véritablement, et aussi délicatement,
         tous les Mouvemens de l’Amour.” (One must be in love, or have been so, to depict so
         truthfully and with such sensitivity, all the emotions of somebody in love.) If d’Argens
         thought that Crébillon must have experienced what he wrote about, this strengthens
         the hypothesis that he himself wrote about what he had experienced. Indeed, d’Argens
         must have experienced it to judge how truthful Crébillon was being. All this leads
         one to entertain conjecture of a seduction when he was aged only fifteen or sixteen.[23]

      
         D’Argens was described by one friend as tall, well-proportioned, and of a noble
         appearance. Another said that he had pleasing features and large, blue, luminous eyes,
         full of intelligence and expression. He himself said that he was five feet seven inches
         in height, and sufficiently well-built.[24]     Women in later life always found him attractive.
      

      
       A broken heart requires a change of scene and it may be that the young Jean-Baptiste’s
         sudden urge to go into the army was inspired by a simple wish to get away from his
         home, resulting from some such cause. Of course he believed that being in the army
         was a heroic and splendid occupation. Homer and Virgil gave a heroic image of the
         military life, and so did most of the visual arts that he saw.
      

      
       The Attorney-General finally, very grudgingly, agreed to his son’s ardent request.
         Pierre-Jean probably believed that a short stint in the army would be enough to rid
         the boy of any illusions he had about it. So, at the age of sixteen, Jean-Baptiste
         was permitted to renounce his studies, and his father purchased him a commission in
         the Regiment of Toulouse, which was stationed at Strasbourg.[25]     From Aix-en-Provence to Strasbourg was a long journey and comparable to escaping
         abroad in modern times.
      

      
       The young officers trained intensively in horsemanship, strategy, tactics, and the
         use of weapons. They studied such things as sieges and fortifications and they also
         performed guard duty in the city. D’Argens always remained fascinated by the details
         of battles and military campaigns, something that is evident in his novel Mémoires du Chevalier de Meillcourt, whose hero oddly enough displays a thorough knowledge of them without having any
         training. The inmates of the garrison were not allowed to travel, because there was
         an outbreak of plague in southern France at this time. The plague was centered in
         Marseilles but there were outbreaks all over the Aixois region and a state of emergency
         prevailed. So it was two years before Jean-Baptiste next saw his parents.[26]     Two of d’Argens’ fellow-officers when he joined up were from other Provençal
         Robin families, the Comte de Limaille and the Marquis d’Entrecasteaux. The latter was from
         a very wealthy family; both he and his son became Presidents of the Parlement.
      

      
       It is possible that d’Argens saw some active service in these years as there is a
         casual allusion in his Mémoires to a visit to Germany.[27]

      
       Meanwhile, d’Argens’ elder sister Anne Aymard, was suitably married off to the Baron
         de la Garde, who owned a château near Toulouse. All the younger brothers, Aléxandre,
         Luc-Sextius, Paul, and Luc, were allocated celibate careers; Paul became an Abbé and
         all the rest Knights of Malta, the standard way of providing for younger sons of noble
         families. It gave them a title that asserted their nobility, and a means of earning
         their living, while at the same time ensuring that the family fortune would not be
         divided up, and would pass whole to the next generation, augmented by strategic marital
         alliance. Two of Jean-Baptiste’s uncles were already abbots.[28]     There was no room in this system for personal inclination or for unwed liaisons,
         neither of which brought money or power. On Jean-Baptiste’s shoulders lay the responsibility
         for carrying on the family and its name. All he had to do was to marry within his
         caste and get a substantial dowry. To rebel against this system did not make you a
         libertine. To Jean-Baptiste’s mind the mercenary marriage was a perverted institution
         and did not represent an acceptable morality. The same views can be found in the main
         tradition of the English novel of the time, from Henry Fielding to Jane Austen.
      

      
       In 1722, Pierre-Jean was created a Marquis. He had reached the pinnacle of his profession.[29]     It was the highest rank available to the noblesse de robe, and by French custom his eldest son was permitted to use the same title even before
         his father died.
      

      
       Not long after his enrolment in the regiment, a theatrical company arrived in Strasbourg
         to perform for a season. The town had a fine public theater and the dramatic art was
         well established there. The celebrated actress Adrienne Le Couvreur had performed
         there for ten years before going to Paris.[30]     The young officers of Strasbourg eagerly turned up on the opening night and it
         was a momentous one. Falling in love with actresses was something d’Argens did all
         his life, and he began at the first opportunity. There would come a time when he would
         write, “The passion for actresses and singers is an infectious disease spread by the
         very air of the theater, and which can only be avoided by flight; whoever haunts the
         wings is in as great danger as one who enters a plague hospice.”[31]     At this age, he was quite happy to court danger.
      

      
         The young actress, whom he calls Sylvie in his Mémoires, is difficult to identify. One contemporary actress, Jeanne (or Gianetta) -Rose-Guyonne
         Benozzi, used the stage name Silvia. She was born at Toulouse in 1701 and was acting
         in Paris by 1716, so she is about the right age.[32]     A recent book erroneously gives her date of birth as 1716, but that is easily
         explained as a confusion with the date of her known stage début.[33]     She was a distinguished actress whose portrait agrees with d’Argens’ description
         of Silvia, as having dark hair and large dark eyes, but there are problems with the
         identification. To fit with what we know about d’Argen’s Sylvie, she would need to
         have a long career break between 1735 and 1743.  The Anecdotes Littéraires  by the Abbé de Voisenon, a somewhat malicious acquaintance of d’Argens’ brother,
         asserts that d’Argens’ Muse was a dancer named Marie Grognet “Mlle Grognet, danseuse
         à Berlin, qu’on avait trouvé mauvaise à Paris, mais qui parut merveilleuse en Prusse,”
         and states that she became Marquise d’Argens.[34]     This is the strongest clue we have. However, there are problems with this as
         well. From 1724–1736 Marie Grognet became principal dancer in the troupe of the Duke
         of Modena, son-in-law of the Regent, who came to live in Paris in 1734.[35]     This does not fit with what d’Argens tells us about Sylvie. Another friend of
         d’Argens’ refers to her as Mdme de S* but that is many years later.[36]

      
       Another possibility is Marie du Pré, later known as “La Demoiselle de Seine,” who
         was acting at Strasbourg in this period and retired from the stage in 1726. She was
         one of the most admired actresses of her time and d’Argens records his enthusiasm
         for her performances. However, she married the actor Dufresne, which does not correspond
         to what he says about Sylvie. The Strasbourg company also included three Quinault
         sisters, one of whom, regarded as the prettiest, acted for only a very short time
         before she retired from the stage. Perhaps she was d’Argens Muse?
      

      
       In his Mémoires, d’Argens idealizes his love for Sylvie and the whole of his relationship with her.
         He claims that he saw her first in Racine’s tragedy Andromaque, playing the role of Hermione, daughter of Menelaus and Helen. Sylvie had beautiful
         dark eyes, a melodious voice, and a slender figure. Her speeches were as much pre-occupied
         with jealousy, hate, and revenge as they were with love, but it was all strong emotion.
         Professing strong emotion precipitated, in Newtonian fashion, an equal and opposite
         reaction. It was love, extreme, intense, and slightly absurd.[37]

      
         An actress was the most attractive woman, not only because she displayed herself
         and made her emotions clear, thus emerging from the cloud of mystery which enveloped
         other women, but because she could have multiple personalities. She could be many
         women, she could be all women, and this plurality resolved the contradiction within
         him that wanted many women but also wanted fidelity and security. D’Argen’s extravagant
         passion for the divine Sylvie makes him the precursor of Berlioz and Gerard de Nerval.
      

      
         The young actress lived with her mother, who chaperoned her closely. Jean-Baptiste
         only obtained visiting rights by procuring the mother a remedy for toothache. After
         some months of obsessive theater-going and persistent courtship, he found that his
         love was returned. But getting from the stage of a privileged admirer to that of a
         lover was virtually impossible. Sylvie was proud, unwilling to be anybody’s mistress,
         and told him that she was the daughter of a gentleman from a family called de Tremblai
         in Normandy. He had contracted a foolish love-match with the daughter of an impoverished
         officer who let out lodgings at St-Malo. When his father discovered this, he got the
         marriage annulled by the parliament of Rouen.[38]

      
       Soon afterwards the young wife died giving birth to Sylvie; her father died likewise,
         leaving the young man with a baby girl to support. The Seigneur de Tremblai of course
         disinherited him. In France before the Revolution (and before the Code Napoléon) parents
         had full power to disinherit their children, and few estates, if any, were entailed
         in the English fashion. So being born noble did not automatically make you rich. D’Argens
         includes many stories of this kind in his Memoirs and his novels as they offer parallels
         with his own.
      

      
       Sylvie had not wanted to go onto the stage. Her father left her a thousand crowns,
         to enable her to become a nun, and she went into the care of a convent at Montpellier
         until her fifteenth birthday. When she was on the point of being professed, the bank-notes
         her father had left her became worthless as the company that issued them had crashed.
         This was nothing unusual in the era of John Law’s Mississippi Company and the South
         Sea Bubble. Without a dowry, the convent could neither profess her nor keep her any
         longer. So Sylvie returned to her step-mother, whom she had never liked, and became
         an actress. Although forced into this occupation, she was gifted, soon became successful,
         and was pursued by many admirers.
      

      
       When he heard Sylvie’s account of her past, Jean-Baptiste offered to marry her. In
         fact he gave her a written promise of marriage, including a penalty clause of ten
         thousand crowns. She tore it up in front of him, and asked him how he could possibly
         ever get parental consent for such a marriage. It was an intelligent question. When
         he threatened to go into a monastery, she gave in to his histrionics and accepted.
         Pricking his finger with the pin of a brooch, he signed the promise in his own blood.[39]

      
       Only with these solemn promises of marriage was the relationship consummated. Jean-Baptiste
         had to creep into the house at night, after her step-mother had gone to bed. One night,
         after the company had been performing Hauteroche’s comedy Crispin Médécin (“The Sham Doctor”), there was a violent thunderstorm, and Sylvie, fearing it would
         wake her mother, begged d’Argens to leave. Having no cloak, he looked around the adjacent
         dressing-room and found some stage costumes. Dressed in the doctor’s robe from the
         play and borrowing a harlequin’s torch, he braved the downpour. A man who saw him
         in the street dressed like this took him for some kind of goblin, and fled, to his
         great amusement.[40]

      
       While his relationship with Sylvie was improper, it was neither libertine nor criminal.
         He had her own free consent, which was more than many husbands could boast, and they
         were engaged. The problem was that they could not marry. No marriage of a member of
         the nobility was legal without parental consent, and as far as the Boyer d’Éguilles
         clan were concerned, d’Argens knew that was out of the question. Clerical marriage
         could be, as in Sylvie’s father’s case, overturned by the civil authorities. In this
         context, a study of the question of whether church or state was supreme turned out
         to be very useful indeed.
      

      
       Inevitably, the betrothed pair were discovered by Sylvie’s step-mother. “Ah, Monsieur le Marquis, it’s you! You will ruin my daughter’s honor and reputation!” Crawling out from his
         hiding-place with as much dignity as he could, he saw that Sylvie had fainted. Her
         step-mother, administered some smelling salts and insisted that he leave as quickly
         and discreetly as possible.[41]

      
       Next day a note arrived from Sylvie, asking him to meet her at the house of La Robbe,
         another actress in the company.[42]     Sylvie had run away after a violent quarrel with her step-mother, and was now
         in utter misery. He offered to reconcile them and presented himself, contrite, at
         the step-mother’s door. “Madame, I come to beg forgiveness for your daughter. Please
         believe there is nothing immoral about her conduct. We regard ourselves as husband
         and wife.” “So I trust,” said the step-mother, “A girl cannot afford indiscretions.”
         She agreed to receive Sylvie back under her roof.[43]

      
       The theatrical company was due to set off for Nîmes to pass the time when the Parlement,
         which provided most of their audience at Strasbourg, was on holiday. D’Argens went
         for a few days to Languedoc in search of a priest to marry him secretly. If nobody
         discovered the marriage, he reasoned, then nobody could annul it. He actually found
         a willing priest and paid him. His plan was for Sylvie to resign from the company,
         retire to the country and live there in seclusion until after his parents’ death so
         he could acknowledge the marriage. On his return he found that Sylvie had taken refuge
         again with La Robbe, to escape her step-mother’s harsh treatment. Impulsively, d’Argens
         decided that the best course was an elopement. She consented, but told him that if
         it turned out disastrously, he had only himself to blame.
      

      
       They arranged that he would collect her in a carriage from outside the theater at
         nine o’clock, straight after the play finished, on an evening when there was no performance
         the following day. Thus, her absence would not be noticed for nearly two days. They
         set off immediately for Perpignan.[44]

      
       Their first problem arose even before they reached the border. Although it was now
         eighteen months since the plague epidemic had passed, passports were still required
         in order to enter Spain. The Commandant of the town told d’Argens that he could only
         issue passports to citizens of Perpignan. They would not get far without one. Determined
         not to turn back, he went to talk to the Commandant’s secretary, and told him that
         he was an officer fleeing France on account of a duel. This, plus a gift of two gold
         louis and a silver snuffbox, persuaded the secretary to issue them both with passports,
         and by the following day they were in Spain.[45]

      
       At the very first town, Jonquière, he was recognized by two Provençal captains who
         had been with him in garrison at Strasbourg and were now in the Spanish army. It was
         no use denying that he was the young Marquis d’Argens or that Sylvie, despite being
         dressed in man’s clothes, was a woman; so he told them that she was the daughter of
         a President of the Parlement of Provence, and that he had abducted her from a convent.
         This gained their friendly approval. Since they had been in Spain for some time, he
         asked them to recommend a priest at Barcelona who spoke French.[46]

      
       Getting married turned out to be harder than he thought. On their arrival in Barcelona,
         d’Argens called on the priest without delay, and found to his surprise that he was
         a Chevalier of the Holy Office, that is to say, the Inquisition. The Inquisition was
         feared and despised in France. But this Inquisitor, who had no reason to suspect the
         young Frenchman of any heretical tendency, was kind and obliging. He saw no problem
         about marrying the young pair. Here in Spain, parental consent was unnecessary. The
         Council of Trent was accepted in Spain, pure and simple. And canon twelve of the twenty-fourth
         session of the Council of Trent had decreed that matrimonial causes could only be
         heard by ecclesiastical judges, ergo, a marriage performed in Spain by the clergy
         could not be annulled by the secular courts.[47]

      
       The priest went to ask the advice of his Grand Vicar, as was only proper. The next
         evening he invited the young couple to see him again and told them that before the
         wedding, they must spend three days apart, Sylvie staying in a convent and d’Argens
         in a monastery, to prove their submission to the church. After all, they were now
         technically living in sin—it did not take the Council of Trent to point that out.
         They must approach holy matrimony in a state of chastity. Seeing that the mention
         of the word “convent” brought an expression of disappointment to Sylvie’s face, he
         amended it and said she could stay in the care of a certain respected lady, which
         would be just as good. The lady was a Señora Pedrajas, wife of the Intendant of Catalonia.
         D’Argens must stay in the monastery of the Maturins, but he would be permitted to
         visit Sylvie every day.
      

      
       On the very first day, when d’Argens turned up at the house of Señora Pedrajas, he
         was told that Sylvie was no longer there. The intendant’s lady had been full of curiosity
         to hear Sylvie’s story, then on discovering that the girl had been an actress, she
         had refused to keep her in the house, and packed her off to stay in a local convent
         after all. D’Argens ran all the way there. In the meanwhile, the Grand Vicar went
         to ask the advice of the Bishop of Barcelona. The Bishop said that before he issued
         a licence, he must have proof that the young man was not already married. It was necessary
         to write back to France and await a reply, and weeks passed.[48]

      
       Each day d’Argens went to the convent and spent the afternoon talking to Sylvie.
         Then one day in the street a well-dressed man recognized him and said, “The Marquis
         d’Argens, I think?” It was Vaumale, a friend of his father, who told him he had fled
         France on account of a duel and now ran across him by sheer accident. Presumably this
         was César de Fages, Seigneur de Vaumale, who was an envoy for the États de Languedoc.
         If so, he had fought as an infantry captain at the siege of Barcelona in 1697 and
         knew the area well.[49]     When invited to Vaumale’s house and treated very cordially, d’Argens was indiscreet
         enough to admit that Sylvie was an actress. Vaumale appeared surprised, but replied
         suavely that love levels all ranks. The young man accepted this at face value.[50]

      
       The next day, after visiting Sylvie in the convent, he went on to Vaumale’s house,
         where after coffee and some inconsequential chat, his host asked him if he had any
         plans for the rest of the evening. He offered to take him to meet some very pretty
         girls, daughters of the governor of the citadel. Never having seen the citadel, the
         young man accepted. It was a very new building, overlooking the sea on the north-eastern
         side of the city, and it was the largest fortress in Europe. A vast mass of stone,
         in the shape of a star, it had been built by order of Philip V to suppress the rebellious
         population of Barcelona who had not favored him in the recent War of Succession. An
         entire district of the town had been demolished to make way for it.
      

      
       D’Argens set off with Vaumale in his carriage, and as they were crossing the castle’s
         defensive bridge, the governor himself came out and approached them. Vaumale stopped
         and lowered the window to speak to him. “I’ve got a note here from the Count of Montemar,”
         he said. Montemar was the Governor of the province. The governor read it and asked,
         “Who is to be arrested?” “This gentleman here,” replied Vaumale. The Governor summoned
         the sergeant on guard and ordered d’Argens to surrender his sword. There was no point
         in resisting. Escorted between two guards, he was conducted a prisoner into the citadel.
      

      
       “We will meet again!” he said to Vaumale, who responded, “One day you will thank
         me for this.” He had contacted Montemar as soon as he discovered that d’Argens was
         in the town, and the two of them had arranged to ship the runaway back to France without
         delay.
      

      
       D’Argens was led up into a tower, which, as he was not too miserable to notice, must
         have been the most beautiful prison in the world. Prisons for the upper classes usually
         resembled the sort of accommodation to which they were accustomed, yet this was exceptional
         and the man who would one day be an aesthetic philosopher and art critic observed
         it appreciatively. He was not in solitary confinement. There were several other unruly
         young noblemen lodged there, including the nephew of a grandee of Spain and the son
         of a commissar of Catalonia, both on charges similar to his own. Plainly there was
         a widespread problem of elopement among the upper classes. Endogamy was in crisis.
         The fourth prisoner, a young Italian colonel called Baratieri, was there on account
         of a duel.[51]

      
       After two days, still no news of Sylvie had arrived. He was not allowed visitors,
         nor was he allowed to write to his two Provençal friends. Finally he said that he
         wanted to confess to a priest. The sentinel relented. When, an hour later, the priest
         arrived, d’Argens was surprised to see his friendly inquisitor. The inquisitor was
         equally astonished. He told d’Argens that Sylvie was so distraught at his disappearance
         from the Maturins that she had not eaten for two days. She imagined that he had abandoned
         her, or had been somehow seized. They must seek the help of the Grand Vicar.
      

      
       Some hours later the friendly inquisitor returned with a church official, who arrested
         d’Argens in the name of the Holy Catholic Church. This was the biggest favor they
         could do him, as once he was under ecclesiastical arrest he had the right to communicate
         with clergy as often as they required. They could not actually get him out of the
         citadel, despite the Council of Trent, but they could visit him, and the friendly
         inquisitor brought him three or four letters from Sylvie every day, all filled with
         endearments. “Try not to worry excessively,” she wrote, “everything will be resolved happily at last.”[52]

      
       D’Argens remained in the tower for two months, under this double arrest. Vaumale
         and Montemar wrote to his father, who reacted with rage and despair to his son’s irresponsible
         behavior. He swore to disinherit the reprobate, and obtained a “lettre de cachet” from the Regent, recalling him to France. Could it have been at this point that he
         deliberately falsified his son’s date of birth to make him appear younger than he
         was? Nevertheless, he was too busy in the Parlement to come to Spain himself, and
         sent a friend, Crivelly, to act on his behalf. When Crivelly arrived, his first tactic
         was try to turn Jean-Baptiste against Sylvie by suggesting that she was a woman of
         low and shameful reputation. He treated this with scorn, and wrote a twenty-page letter
         in Latin to the Bishop and the Grand Vicar, in case Crivelly tried to influence them.
         Dominicans and Inquisitors would not always be so warmly in his favor, but on this
         occasion they replied in a six-page letter telling him he had nothing to fear.[53]

      
       Every day Crivelly would visit him in the tower and try to win him round to his father’s
         way of thinking. Getting nowhere with this, he secretly went to the convent to visit
         Sylvie. There he told her that if she really loved d’Argens, she could not choose
         to do something that would inevitably make him unhappy. His father would disinherit
         him if he went through with the marriage, and sooner or later he would realize his
         mistake and leave her. Anyway, the day after they were married in Spain, his father
         would only get the marriage annulled in France! The French institutions could simply
         refuse to recognize the marriage of any nobleman performed without parental consent.
         If she agreed to break off the engagement now, the family would pay her twelve thousand
         livres, enough to live on for the rest of her life. Crivelly persuaded the intendant
         of the convent to use the same arguments on her day after day when he was not there.
         Señora Pedrajas added her persuasions to theirs.[54]

      
       Eventually, Sylvie caved in under the pressure. She gave them d’Argens’ promise of
         marriage, and signed a declaration that she would never become his wife. In triumph,
         Crivelly took both of these to the Citadel, where d’Argens, who had got two letters
         from Sylvie only the day before, assuring him of her faithful love, was completely
         dumbfounded and incredulous. He thought there must be some deceit involved. The friendly
         inquisitor was astonished likewise, and agreed to take a letter to Sylvie asking her
         to confirm that it was all a trick or a mistake. In response he got a note reading:
      

      
         I have given you back to your family. Go away and forget me, if that will make you
            happy. I am going to take vows and remain in this convent for the rest of my life,
            to punish myself for giving in to ideas that brought nothing but misery. Farewell.
            Do not write to me any more. I will not answer. 
         

      

       When he read this, d’Argens went into a state of severe shock. Suicide seemed to
         be the only solution. He crushed a glass goblet, pounded it small, and mixed the fragments
         with some strong Spanish tobacco that stuck together and formed about a dozen pellets.
         Then he waited until it was dinner time. In the interim he wrote this letter to Sylvie:
      

      
         I am going to die, cruel girl, because of you. Nevertheless, I forgive you. But I
            cannot bear it if you blame me for your misfortunes. By the time you read this letter,
            I will be dead. Forget my offence, if that will help you to forget your own faithlessness.[55]

      

       He despatched this to her by means of the servant who brought their meals up to the
         tower. Then the four gentlemen prisoners sat down to their dinner together, as usual,
         all locked into one room. D’Argens slipped one of his pellets into the first spoonful
         of soup, and swallowed it. As he tried to take the second one, the effect of the tobacco
         in his mouth turned him purple and he started to choke. At once Count Baratieri leapt
         on him and the rest of the pellets were found concealed in his napkin. Despite his
         resistance, his three fellow-inmates forced him to swallow enough oil to make him
         vomit. This prevented the glass he had consumed from killing him. Nevertheless, he
         would suffer for the rest of his life for this act of self-harm. He felt acute pains
         in his chest and stomach at the time, and chronic gastric trouble would recur again
         and again for years afterwards. It is probably no coincidence that his eventual cause
         of death, many years later, was a disease of the stomach.[56]

      
       When Sylvie got his letter, and believed him dead, she disturbed the whole convent
         with her convulsive weeping. Crivelly arrived at the tower and made a lot of angry
         accusations to d’Argens, then went back to Sylvie with the news that her fiancé was
         not dead, and persuaded her to write a note to him imploring him not to harm himself
         again.
      

      
       The young man had little choice but to return to France. On the orders of Montemar,
         he was escorted by twenty-five guards, and handed over to the governor of the nearest
         French town, Bellegarde. He was not permitted to see Sylvie before he left. At Bellegarde,
         the governor, the Comte de Pertuis, sent him on to Perpignan in the care of twenty
         grenadiers. Crivelly came too. The Intendant of Roussillon, the Comte d’Andrezel,
         sent his own carriage to the city gates to receive them, and told them that a lettre de cachet had arrived from the King commanding that d’Argens be held in the citadel. Andrezel
         was very apologetic about this, and expressed a hope that it would not be for long.
         He took them personally to meet the governor of the citadel, M. de Montméjan, and
         they were both invited to dinner. Instead of being kept in a cell or a tower, d’Argens
         was allowed to sleep in the officers’ quarters, and by day he had the run of the entire
         place.[57]

      
       Although the Vicomte d’Andrezel was older than d’Argens’ father, he took a sympathetic
         view of the young man’s offence. What his attitude would have been if it had been
         his own son, we can only guess, but his tactful handling of the situation won him
         d’Argens’ gratitude and trust.
      

      
       After a few days a letter arrived from Count Baratieri, who reported that in Barcelona
         people were talking about Sylvie’s recent marriage. D’Argens naturally did not believe
         it, and wondered whether Sylvie might have spread a false rumor on purpose. It was
         true that she was not writing to him. Then a letter from his friendly inquisitor confirmed
         that Sylvie had indeed got married, in Barcelona, to somebody called Larcher. It was
         Señora Pedrajas who had arranged the match. Larcher is a common French name and there
         were plenty of Frenchmen in Spain in the reign of Philip V. Twelve thousand livres
         was enough to persuade one of them to take her to the altar.[58]

      
       D’Argens was of course devastated, but in a different way this time. Sylvie had betrayed
         him, for money, therefore he resolved to forget her. Andrezel undertook to reconcile
         him with his family, and wrote to Pierre-Jean. D’Argens wrote to a family friend,
         the Baron de Châteaurenard, first Consul of Aix, who intervened on his behalf. Without
         his interposition, the Attorney-General might have taken some really extreme measures.
      

      
       In Andrezel’s company, Jean-Baptiste made the journey from Perpignan back to Aix.
         There he found that he was not even allowed to enter the family home. The news of
         his elopement had caused a great stir in France, and the disgrace was still too recent
         and too keenly felt. His mother wanted very much to see him, but was overruled. She
         still felt great tenderness for her son, and it was she who had persuaded Pierre-Jean
         to get the lettre de cachet against him revoked. Otherwise, he could have been kept prisoner in Perpignan, or
         some other dungeon, for life. When d’Argens senior complained about the terrible expense
         that his son’s behavior had occasioned, she offered to sell her diamonds.
      

      
       Only Aléxandre, his favorite brother, met Jean-Baptiste at Aix. He was a knight of
         the Order of Malta, a vocation that prevented him from owning worldly estates. His
         father had offered to make him heir to the family fortune if he would leave the order,
         but he had steadfastly refused.[59]

      
       It happened fortunately that Andrezel was appointed just at this time as ambassador
         from France to the Ottoman Empire. He was going to visit Constantinople and the tributary
         states of the southern Mediterranean. Jean-Baptiste asked him if he could join his
         retinue and the offer was promptly accepted. Jean-Pierre’s consent was necessary,
         and it was Andrezel who obtained this. He and his son were going to sail from Toulon,
         so all three set off there and after a few days, d’Argens senior came there to meet
         him at last. The ambassador presented the prodigal son to his father, and remained
         with them throughout the interview. Châteaurenard was there too, and they provided
         a sort of protective buffer. Jean-Baptiste had feared worse. His father merely spoke
         in a mild way about the terrible trouble this had all caused for himself and the family,
         and how he hoped that Jean-Baptiste’s future conduct would make the world forget his
         foolishness. The prodigal remained mute and looked contrite. Three days later he sailed
         for Algiers.[60]

      
       Whatever d’Argens’ misdemeanors had been, he was not a libertine. He had sought a
         full and ideal relationship with a woman, whom he had wished to love and cherish,
         and to respect as the mother of his children. Nobody could call his relationship with
         Sylvie casual, frivolous, or exploitative. Furthermore, the seriousness of d’Argens’
         cause in rebelling against his father is easy to underrate. In the Western hemisphere,
         the parental right to impose or forbid marriage has been abolished but it is still
         in our time a very real form of oppression in other parts of the world, reminding
         us that it is a major political issue. It has bearings on liberty, class, nobility,
         the family as an institution, and the distinction between legitimate and illegitimate
         offspring, none of which are lightweight matters to be consigned to the category of
         romantic fiction. D’Argens was not just a dissipated young nobleman, but very much
         a rebel with a cause.
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